2000

Melvin R. Pollard v. Truck Insurance Exchange : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Section 78-2-2 (j) of the Utah Code Annotated (1953) and pursuant to Rules 3 and 4 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the Lower Court err in granting Summary Judgment to Defendant (Truck Insurance Exchange) by ruling that the comprehensive general liability policy (Business Insurance Policy) issued by Truck Insurance Exchange to Climate Source Inc., and Pollard Mechanical Inc., did not provide Uninsured Motorist Coverage to Melvin R. Pollard, the owner of both Corporations.

Standard of Review: Correction of Error

State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932 (Utah 1994); *United Park City Mines Co., v. Greater Park City Co.*, 870 P.2d 880 (Utah 1993); *Jacobson Investment v. State Tax Commission*, 839 P.2d 789 (Utah 1992)

Issue preserved in Lower Court by Memorandum Decision of the Lower Court, dated February 3, 2000.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Title 41-12a-101 UCA (1953)

Title 31A-22-302 UCA (1953)

Title 31A-22-305 UCA (1953) § 33(a)(b)

Title 41-1a-102(37) UCA (1953)

Title 41-22-2(11) UCA (1953)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is an action by Melvin R. Pollard (Pollard) to determine that he is entitled to Uninsured Motorist Coverage (UM) for injuries he received in an auto-motorcycle accident that occurred on September 23, 1997, under the terms of a Comprehensive Liability Insurance Policy issued by Truck Insurance Exchange (Farmer's) which contains a section providing UM Coverage.

B. Course of Proceedings.

Following the Answer filed to Pollard's Complaint, both parties filed Motions for Summary Judgment. Pollard moved for Partial Summary Judgment seeking a declaration as a matter of law that he was covered under the UM provision of the policy. Issues of damages and UM liability were reserved. Farmers moved for Summary Judgment seeking a declaration that Pollard was not covered under the UM provisions of the Policy.

The matter was briefed by both parties and argued to the Court.

On the 4th day of February, 2000 the Trial Court rendered a Memorandum decision, granting Farmers Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Plaintiffs Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (The Memorandum decision is Appendix 1, R.39)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Pollard is the owner of all of the issued and outstanding stock of two corporations, namely Climate Source Inc., and Pollard Mechanical Inc. He has been the sole

owner since the two corporations were organized. The business of both corporations is the installation and repair of heating and air-conditioning systems. (Affidavit of Pollard, Appendix 2, R.30)

2. On or about July 14, 1997, Truck Insurance Exchange, a member of the Farmers Insurance Group Companies, (herein "FARMERS") issued its Farmer's Insurance Business Policy, policy 06590-13-39, which is a comprehensive liability and property damage insurance policy. Among the coverage's contained in the policy is one entitled Business Auto Coverage form. Within that coverage is a section called "Utah Uninsured Motorist Coverage". This part of the policy is attached hereto in full in Appendix 3.

3. Pollard has been insured personally and in his businesses by Farmers for many years. It is his belief that he was personally covered for all of the coverage's in the Business auto policy and all prior policies. This fact was imparted to him by Farmers agents. (Affidavit of Pollard, Appendix 2, R.30)

4. On September 23, 1997, at approximately 8:00 o'clock a.m., Pollard while operating a motorcycle, sustained severe disabling injuries in an accident involving an uninsured motorist (hit and run) at the 700 East 4500 South intersection in Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

5. Following the accident, Pollard claimed coverage under the policy here in question as well as a separate policy issued by Farmers covering his motorcycle. The motorcycle policy had a limit on One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000.00). The policy

at issue here has limits of One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00). Farmers settled and paid the \$100,000.00 limits under the motorcycle policy but denied coverage under the policy here involved. Pollard's damages will likely exceed the \$1,000,000.00 policy limit.

6. In the settlement agreement entered into by the parties when the motorcycle policy was paid, it was agreed to that Pollard's rights under the subject policy were reserved and not affected by the settlement.

7. Farmers concedes that Pollard is and insured under the business policy and would be covered if he were a pedestrian (more on this important concession, later in the brief).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Lower Court based its decision on a provision of the business policy; Title 31A-22-305 (7)(a) of Utah's Uninsured and Underinsured Motorist Statute; and Utah Cases, *Clark v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.*, 743 P.2d 1227 (Utah 1987) and *Bear River Mutual v. Wright*, 770 P.2d 1019 (Utah App. 1989).

The argument will show that neither the policy provision or the statutory provision limit or deny coverage in this case. The *Clark* case ruled that a party could not insure one of his vehicles for UM coverage and transfer that coverage to his other vehicles that did not have UM coverage. That case has no application because Pollard is not seeking to transfer coverage to his motorcycle. He insured his motorcycle with Farmers along with 14 business autos, on which he paid a premium. Whether he was operating a listed vehicle is not material.

The *Wright* case is important because it holds that a motorcycle is not an automobile, under the terms of an exclusion in the policy. It teaches the significance of proper application of definitions in the interpretation of insurance contracts. It does not however preclude coverage in this case.

The argument below will show in detail the error committed by the Lower Court.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO DEFENDANT (TRUCK INSURANCE EXCHANGE) BY RULING THAT THE COMPREHENSIVE GENERAL LIABILITY POLICY (BUSINESS INSURANCE POLICY) ISSUED BY TRUCK INSURANCE EXCHANGE TO CLIMATE SOURCE INC., AND POLLARD MECHANICAL INC., DID NOT PROVIDE UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE TO MELVIN R. POLLARD, THE OWNER OF BOTH CORPORATIONS.

A. The Terms Of The Policy.

The Lower Court quoted a provision in the "Auto" portion of the policy, which reads:

"This policy provides only those coverages where a charge is shown in the premium column below. Each of these coverages will apply only to those 'autos' shown as covered 'autos'. 'Autos' are shown as covered 'autos' for a particular coverage by the entry of one or more of the symbols from the COVERED AUTO section of the Business Auto coverage".

The Court then held that that provision of the policy prohibits UM coverage in this case because the motorcycle operated by Pollard was not listed in the policy and that there was no coverage if Pollard was not operating a listed vehicle. In reaching this conclusion the Court necessarily had to ignore the language of the UM coverage which reads;

“A. Coverage

1. We will pay all sums the ‘insured’ is legally entitled to recover as compensatory damages from the owner or driver of an ‘uninsured motor vehicle’. The damages must result from ‘bodily injury’ sustained by the ‘insured’ cause by an ‘accident’. The owner’s and driver’s liability for these damages must result from the ownership, maintenance or use of the ‘uninsured motor vehicle’.
2. We will pay only after all liability bonds or policies have been exhausted by judgments or payments.
3. Any judgment for damages arising out of ‘suit’ brought without our written consent is not binding on us.

B. WHO IS AN INSURED

1. You
2. If you are an individual, any ‘family member’.
3. Anyone else ‘occupying’ a covered ‘auto’ or a temporary substitute for a covered ‘auto’. The covered ‘auto’ must be out of service because of its breakdown, repair, servicing, ‘loss’ or destruction.
4. Anyone for damages he or she is entitled to recover because of ‘bodily injury’ sustained by another ‘insured’.”

“You” is defined in the Business Auto Coverage (App. 3) as the named insured shown in the Declarations. The named insured is shown on the policy to be Climate Source Inc., and Pollard Mechanical Inc., both corporations owned by the Plaintiff, Pollard. He is the sole shareholder. All fourteen of his company vehicles are covered for UM insurance.

The Lower Court entirely overlooked the fact that the language of the UM coverage is ambiguous. A corporation cannot be injured by a UM and a corporation does not have family members.

The Lower Court ruled that since Pollard's motorcycle is not listed on the policy there is no UM coverage for him. The Lower Court analysis of the case is not the correct measure of this case.

The fundamental issue in this case is not whether Pollard was operating a covered vehicle, but whether he is an “insured” under the policy.

The significance of the UM provision quoted above and the point that the Lower Court missed is that the policy does not require that an “insured” must be occupying a listed vehicle in order to claim UM benefits. The fact that Pollard was riding a motorcycle that was not a listed “auto” is immaterial. All that is required is that an “insured” suffer an injury caused by an uninsured motorist. Coverage is provided without regard to the operation of any auto, or not auto.

As a subsidiary argument, it was unnecessary to list the motorcycle in order to have coverage.

Throughout the policy the word “auto” is used frequently. Under section 5 -definitions of the auto policy on page 9 of 11 pages, (see appendix 3) "auto" is defined:

"B. 'Auto' means a land motor vehicle, trailer or semi-trailer designed for travel on public roads but does not include 'mobile equipment'."

Pollard was operating a motorcycle. The case of *Bear River Mut. Ins. Co., v. Wright*, 770 P.2d 1019 (Utah App. 1989) provides guidance in this definitional field. That case explicitly held that for the purpose of a policy exclusion in that case, the word automobile as used in the exclusion did not include motorcycle.

We look again at the policy definition, which describes “auto” as a land motor vehicle, designed for travel on public roads. The word "auto" in the policy is a shorthand way of saying "automobile". Automobile is a four-wheel vehicle designed for use on highways and a motorcycle is a two wheeled vehicle and although used on public roads, its primary use is off road. This is what gives the motorcycle its primary attraction. The term "motorcycle" is not mentioned in the policy. (See *Bear River Mut. Ins. Co., v. Wright*, supra.)

B. Statutory Provision.

In support of its conclusion that there is no coverage, the Lower Court quoted Title 31A-22-305(7)(a) of the Insurance Code relating to Uninsured and Underinsured Motorist Coverage the Section quoted reads:

"Uninsured motorist coverage under this section applies to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death of covered persons while occupying or using a motor vehicle as described in the policy under which a claim is made, or if the motor vehicle is a newly

acquired or replacement vehicle covered under the terms of the policy. . . ."

The Statute has no application for several reasons. The Lower Court failed to discern that the Statute does not apply to motorcycles.

Under part three of the Motor Vehicle Insurance Code, Title 31A-22-301 a definition of Motor Vehicle is stated as follows:

"(1) 'Motor vehicle' has the same meaning as under Subsection 41-12a-103 (4)."

Quoted section reads:

"(4) (a) 'Motor vehicle' means every self-propelled vehicle that is designed for use upon a highway, including trailers and semi trailers designed for use with other motorized vehicles.

(b) 'Motor vehicle' does not include traction engines, road rollers, farm tractors, tractor cranes, power shovels, and well drillers, and every vehicle that is not propelled by electric power obtained from overhead wires but not operated on rails."

The term "motorcycle" is not mentioned in the above section and the term "motor vehicle" refers to self propelled vehicles designed for use upon a highway. It is true that motorcycles are frequently seen on highways, but more often they are used as off-highway vehicles.

Even further the UM statute has a specific reference to "motor vehicle". 31A-21-22-305 (4)(b)(c)(ii) which reads:

"(4)(c)(ii) 'Motor vehicle' has the same meaning as under Section 41-1a-102"

which reads:

"(33)(a)'Motor vehicle' means a self propelled vehicle intended primarily for use and operation on the highways.

(b) 'Motor vehicle' does not include an off-highway vehicle."

Further on in the definitions we find under (37) the following definition:

"'Off-highway vehicle' has the same meaning as provided in Section 41-22-2."

Subsection 11 of that Section reads:

"'Off-highway vehicle' means any snowmobile, all-terrain type I vehicle, all-terrain type II vehicle, or motorcycle."

When we follow the trail of definitions we find that a motorcycle is not classified as a motor vehicle under Utah Statutory definitions. This is one of the reasons (7)(a) has no application to this case.

The Lower Court in its decision made one observation with which we agree:

"Furthermore, it must be remembered that the policy provides the applicable coverage not the statute. (R.)"

Simply stated Farmers cannot deny coverage based upon a statute that is not contained in its policy.

Furthermore, an insurance company can always provide by contract coverage greater than that outlined in a statute. (*Bear River Mut. Ins. Co., v. Wright, supra.*)

The Court should note also the language of 31a-22-305 (1) (Uninsured Motorist Coverage) which reads:

- "(1) As used in this section, 'covered persons' includes:
- (a) the named insured;
 - (b) persons related to the named insured by blood, marriage, adoption or guardianship, who are residents of the named insured's household, including those who usually make their home in the same household but temporarily live elsewhere;
 - (c) any person occupying or using a motor vehicle referred to in the policy or owned by a self-insurer; and
 - (d) any person who is entitled to recover damages against the owner or operator of the uninsured or underinsured motor vehicle because of bodily injury to or death of persons under Subsection (1)(a), (b), or (c)."

It will be noted that there is no requirement that the insured or his family members be operating a vehicle mentioned in the policy or indeed operating any vehicle at all.

Distinguished from these two classes of insured are other persons who must be operating a motor vehicle referred to in the policy. The Farmers UM coverage contains a similar provision. (See above quotation). However, the fourteen vehicles listed in the policy are company vehicles used in the company business of heating and air conditioning. Most likely they would be operated by a company employee who would be acting within the course and scope of his employ. This would include Pollard. The policy however, does not provide coverage if the loss is covered by Workmens Compensation. (See the policy, appendix , SECTION D., LIMIT OF INSURANCE).

The Lower Court held that there was no coverage because 305(7)(a) excluded coverage unless the claimant was operating a listed vehicle. The Lower Court necessarily had to ignore 305 (1)(a)(b). All that is necessary for a covered person to obtain benefits is to be injured or killed by an Uninsured Motorist.

The Court must also consider the terms of the UM coverage under Section E entitled Changes in Conditions, it is stated:

“If there is other applicable insurance available under one or more policies or provisions of coverage:

a. The maximum recovery under all coverage forms or policies combined may equal but not exceed the highest applicable limit for any one vehicle under any coverage form or policy providing coverage on either a primary or excess basis.”

The quoted section contemplates the fact that there may be multiple coverages available to a covered person. It limits that coverage to the highest limit for any one vehicle under any coverage form. When Farmers wrote that language it must have contemplated that multiple UM coverage could be available to an insured. It cannot now ask this Court to ignore that provision.

C. The Concession By Farmers.

In one of the briefs filed by Farmers in the Lower Court it is stated:

"The Uninsured Motorist Coverage issued on Mr. Pollard's business vehicles was for a very specific and meaningful purpose of providing coverage to the users of the business vehicles in the event that

such person was injured by an uninsured motorist in three possible situations:
(1) While using one of the business vehicles,
(2) As a pedestrian, or
(3) While occupying a vehicle not owned or available for his regular use."

Aside from the fact that the terms of the policy contradict the above statement for the most part, it is interesting that Farmers would concede that Pollard would be covered if he were a pedestrian and struck by an Uninsured vehicle. (R. 92, 93) Farmers does not cite any provision of the "auto" policy that mentions the word pedestrian, and we are unable to find any such reference. Given the fact that UM coverage is remedial in nature and designed to protect families who are injured by Uninsured Motorists it is very clear that Pollard would be covered if he were operating a bicycle, a motorized wheelchair, a scooter, or an off road vehicle including a motorcycle.

The admission by Farmers underscores the fact that the policy is ambiguous. That is the subject of our final section.

D. The Policy Is Ambiguous And Should Be Construed To Provide UM Coverage To Pollard.

This point is best illustrated by reference to the cases from many other jurisdictions that have construed family type UM coverage engrafted upon Commercial policies having the same or very similar terms as that contained in the Farmers policy.¹ The cases have been reproduced and are under Appendix 4.

¹ The Farmers policy form as indicated on the bottom of each page, states "Copyright, Insurance Services Office, Inc. 1993". These forms are prepared for and commonly used in the insurance industry throughout the United States.

One of the leading cases in this field is *Hansen v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co.*, 687 A.2d 1262 (Conn. 1996). In this case the corporate owner of a closely held corporation was killed while operating a snowmobile by an Uninsured Motorist. Under a commercial policy containing UM coverage identical to the Farmers case, the Court held that the policy was ambiguous and would therefore be construed as providing coverage for the decedent.

In a case decided the same day by the Connecticut Court, *Agosto v. Aetna Cas. and Sur.*, 687 A.2d 1267 (Conn. 1996), the Court held that coverage would be available to the estate of a State Trooper, under a State Commercial policy after he had left his vehicle on a traffic stop and was killed by a third vehicle. The same ambiguity was found to exist in the State Commercial policy providing for UM coverage.

Hawkeye-Sec. Ins. v. Lambrecht & Sons, 852 P.2d 1317 (Colo. App. 1993), in this case Plaintiff's husband owned all of the capital stock of the closely held corporation. Plaintiff worked for the corporation and was an officer and director. She was injured while in a vehicle owned by the corporation. The Court held that the UM coverage, which is very similar to the Farmers policy, if read literally, would provide no coverage at all and would result in the insurance company receiving a premium while providing no consideration. It held that the language must be interpreted to provide some meaningful coverage and in so doing ruled that Plaintiff was entitled to UM coverage. The concept of "you" being the corporate named insured and the term "family member" are thoroughly discussed in arriving at the conclusion that no meaningful coverage was provided if the terms are interpreted literally.

Grain Dealers Mut. Ins. Co., v. McKee, 911 S.W.2d 775 (Tex. App. San Antonio 1995). *McKee's* eleven year old daughter was injured in a one car accident in which her Underinsured Step-Sister was the driver. The auto was not covered under the corporations Business policy. The injured girl was a member of the immediate family of the sole share holder of the family owned corporation; the corporate insured. The Court held that the use of the term "family members" in the UM-UIM coverage of the corporate policy was ambiguous and would be resolved in favor of coverage for the corporate owners daughter.

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