2000

# Melvin R. Pollard v. Truck Insurance Exchange : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The plain terms of the Commercial Auto Insurance Policy issued to Climate Source and Pollard Mechanical, Inc. extends uninsured

motorist coverage only with respect to the use of 14 specifically described "autos" in the policy. The motorcycle being used by Mr. Pollard at the time of the subject accident in this case was admittedly not one of the 14 described "autos" in the Commercial Auto Insurance Policy. Thus, the clear and unambiguous language of the policy at issue does not provide uninsured motorist coverage with respect to Mr. Pollard's use of his personal motorcycle, and therefore the terms of that policy should be enforced as written.

Further, the Utah Uninsured Motorist Statutory Scheme does not require or even allow the additional uninsured motorist coverage being claimed by Mr. Pollard, and there is no basis for him to claim that additional uninsured motorist coverage with respect to the use of his personal motorcycle was his reasonable expectation of the coverage available under the Commercial Auto Insurance Policy.

Therefore, the district court was correct in granting summary judgment in favor of Truck Insurance Exchange, and that ruling should be affirmed by this Court.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN RULING THAT THE COMMERCIAL AUTO INSURANCE POLICY AT ISSUE SHOULD BE ENFORCED AS WRITTEN, AND THAT UNDER THE CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS LANGUAGE OF THE POLICY, THERE IS NO UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE FOR MR. POLLARD'S USE OF HIS PERSONAL MOTORCYCLE WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCIDENT HE WAS INVOLVED IN ON SEPTEMBER 23, 1997.

The plain terms of the Commercial Auto Insurance Policy issued to Climate Source and Pollard Mechanical, Inc. do not provide for uninsured motorist coverage with respect to Mr. Pollard's use of the motorcycle at the time of the subject accident since Mr. Pollard's personal motorcycle was not described in the subject business auto policy.

A copy of the applicable Business Auto Coverage Form is included in the Addendum. In Section V, at page 9 of the Business Auto Coverage Form, the term "auto" is defined for purposes of all business auto coverages. That definition states as follows:

B. "Auto" means a land motor vehicle, trailer or semi-trailer designed for travel on public roads but does not include "mobile equipment".

(R. 116; see also Addendum)

Thus, the term "auto", as a defined term in the Commercial Auto Insurance Policy issued to Climate Source and Pollard Mechanical, Inc., includes a motorcycle, as such clearly falls

within the generally accepted meaning of "land motor vehicle". Indeed, the Utah Supreme Court has held that the term "motor vehicle" encompasses both automobiles and motorcycles. Bear River Mutual Ins. Co. v. Wright, 770 P.2d 1019 (Utah App 1989)

Mr. Pollard admits that there are 14 vehicles listed as "covered autos" in the policy, and that the motorcycle ridden by Mr. Pollard at the time of the subject accident is not listed at all in the policy. In addition, he acknowledges that the declaration page of the subject policy states as follows:

This policy provides only those coverages for a charge as shown in the premium column below. Each of these coverages will apply only to those "autos" shown as covered "autos". "Autos" are shown as covered "autos" for a particular coverage by an entry of one or more of the symbols from the COVERED AUTO section of the Business Auto Coverage Form next to the name of the coverage.

(R. 24; see also Addendum)

It is further undisputed that the symbol entered in the column next to Uninsured Motorist coverage in the subject policy indicates that such coverage is only provided with respect to the use of one of the 14 specifically described autos, and that this does not include the motorcycle Mr. Pollard was driving at the time of the accident. (R. 24-26; see also Addendum)

The law regarding the interpretation of insurance policies in Utah is well settled. Such contracts are to be enforced as

written, unless the terms are in violation of a statute or against public policy. See Alf v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 850 P.2d 1272 (Utah 1993), St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance v. Commercial Union Assurance, 606 P.2d 1206 (Utah 1980). As discussed subsequently in this brief, the terms of the policy are not in violation of any applicable statute, and there is no argument that they are against public policy.

The plain terms of the Commercial Auto Insurance Policy issued to Climate Source and Pollard Mechanical, Inc. clearly do not provide for uninsured motorist coverage with respect to Mr. Pollard's use of the motorcycle at the time of the subject accident. These terms should simply be enforced as written.

In Mr. Pollard's brief, he claims that the fact that Mr. Pollard was not operating a vehicle listed in the policy at the time of the subject accident is "not material" to this declaratory judgment action. (Appellant's Brief, pg. 4) However, it is unknown how Mr. Pollard could arrive at such a conclusion, since that is the very fact that does or does not trigger uninsured motorist coverage under the subject Commercial Auto Insurance Policy.

Further, Mr. Pollard claims that he is not seeking to transfer UM coverage to his motorcycle. (Appellant's Brief, pg. 4) However, that appears to be precisely what Mr. Pollard is

attempting to do in this case, and such is not allowed under the established law in Utah. See, Clark v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 743 P.2d 1227 (Utah 1987).

In Clark, the decedent was killed by an uninsured motorist who negligently hit the motorcycle he was driving. The deceased had not insured his motorcycle, but had purchased insurance for his car from State Farm. The deceased's family sued State Farm, attempting to collect under an uninsured motorist clause in the insurance policy issued for the car. In holding that the insured could not obtain uninsured motorist coverage on his motorcycle simply by purchasing such coverage on another owned vehicle, the Utah Supreme Court stated as follows:

We do not think that the statute, which merely requires insurers to offer uninsured motorist coverage and authorizes motorists to waive the coverage, evinces a legislative intent to allow an individual to purchase insurance on one vehicle and obtain coverage on all the other vehicles in his household. ...If the legislature had intended to require uninsured motorist coverage only on one vehicle per household, it would have drafted the statute accordingly and would not have required that insurers offer the coverage on all vehicles.

\* \* \*

Thus, coverage was intended to rest with the vehicle and not with the named insured, since owners can opt in favor of uninsured motorist coverage on some vehicles and against it on others.

Id. at 1229 through 1230 (citations omitted).

In the present case, Mr. Pollard had obtained a personal motor vehicle liability insurance policy on the subject motorcycle, under which he has been paid uninsured motorist benefits. However, despite Mr. Pollard's admission that the motorcycle was not a described auto in the commercial policy, and contrary to the Utah Supreme Court's opinion in Clark, Mr. Pollard now claims that he should also be entitled to UM coverage under the commercial policy with respect to his personal use of his motorcycle. Such is contrary to the plain language of the subject commercial policy, and is not supported by the controlling case law and statutory scheme. Thus, Mr. Pollard should not be allowed to unilaterally expand his UM coverage beyond that for which he has contracted and paid a premium.

Since there is no ambiguity in the policy, and since an insured and insurer are free to contract for whatever coverages they do or do not want with respect to the use of any particular vehicle, the Court should enforce the Commercial Auto Insurance Policy, issued by Truck Insurance Exchange, as written, and thus hold that Mr. Pollard is not entitled to uninsured motorist benefits under the terms of that policy for injuries he claims to have sustained as a result of the accident that occurred while he was driving his personal motorcycle on September 23, 1997.

Instead, he is limited to the UM coverage provided by the personal policy on that motorcycle, under which he has already received compensation for his claim.

## II.

### UTAH'S UNINSURED MOTORIST STATUTORY SCHEME DOES NOT REQUIRE OR EVEN ALLOW ADDITIONAL UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE UNDER THE COMMERCIAL POLICY WITH RESPECT TO MR. POLLARD'S USE OF HIS MOTORCYCLE IN THIS CASE.

The Utah uninsured motorist statutory scheme consists of provisions from both the Automobile Insurance Code (U.C.A. §31A-22-301, et seq.) and the Financial Responsibility Laws (U.C.A. §41-12a-101, et seq.). As part of his argument, Mr. Pollard has made the assertion that "statutory UM coverage is personal and portable". (R. 36) However, such an assertion is without basis for at least two reasons.

First, the phrase "statutory UM coverage" implies that it is the statutes, rather than the policies, which provide coverage. Such is simply not the case. While the statutes may govern the type and limit of coverages that may or must be included in an insurance policy, they do not, in and of themselves, provide coverage. An insurance policy is a contract between the insured and the insurer, wherein the parties have a right to agree to whatever coverages or limitations on coverage they desire, as long



as the agreement is not contrary to statute or public policy.  
Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Call, 712 P.2d 231, 233 (Utah 1985)

Second, nowhere in the Utah Uninsured Motorist Statutory Scheme does it state that UM coverage is "personal and portable". Quite to the contrary, the Utah Supreme Court, interpreting the UM statutes under similar circumstances, has held that UM coverage was intended to rest with the vehicle and not with the named insured. Clark v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., supra. Indeed, Clark is controlling on the issue of whether Utah's uninsured motorist statute requires a motor vehicle policy's uninsured motorist provisions to include coverage on a motorcycle which is owned and driven by the insured's family, but is not a vehicle expressly insured by the policy, and for which no premium was paid. 770 P.2d at 1019 through 1020.

With respect to the issue of whether the term "autos" in the subject policy includes motorcycles, it should again be noted that this is a defined term in the policy, and that the definition of "land motor vehicle" has been held to include a motorcycle. See, Bear River Mutual Ins. Co. v. Wright, supra. Thus, there is no need to turn to the statutes to determine the meaning of the term "auto". However, even if a statutory definition were needed, the applicable definition of "motor vehicle" includes motorcycles.

In his brief, plaintiff has incorrectly relied on U.C.A. §41-1a-102 as the applicable definition of "motor vehicle". (Appellant's Brief, pg. 9) However, it should be noted that plaintiff's reliance is misplaced since that definition deals only with the term "motor vehicle" as used in Chapter 1a of the Motor Vehicle Code. The Motor Vehicle Financial Responsibility Act, which is the statute requiring motor vehicle insurance or other types of financial security, is contained in Chapter 12a of the Motor Vehicle Code, which contains its own definition of "motor vehicle". In Section 41-12a-103, it states as follows:

**41-12a-103. Definitions.**

As used in this chapter:

(4)(a) "Motor vehicle" means every self-propelled vehicle that is designed for use upon a highway, including trailers and semi-trailers designed for use with other motorized vehicles.

\* \* \*

U.C.A. §41-12a-103 (1993).

Mr. Pollard, in complying with the financial responsibility laws and the Motor Vehicle Insurance Code, purchased a motor vehicle liability policy on the subject motorcycle, which he was using on a public highway at the time of the subject accident. That policy on the motorcycle contained uninsured motorist coverage, which has been paid out to Mr. Pollard.

In addition, with respect to the business vehicles Mr. Pollard had purchased through Climate Source and Pollard Mechanical, Inc., the Financial Responsibility Law had also been complied with through the purchase of the subject Commercial Auto Insurance Policy, providing business auto coverage for 14 listed vehicles used in those businesses, admittedly not including the subject motorcycle. This business auto policy also contained uninsured motorist coverage in connection with the use of any one of those 14 vehicles described in the policy.

Based on the fact that Mr. Pollard is considered an insured under the Commercial Auto Insurance Policy issued to Climate Source and Pollard Mechanical, Inc., he now argues that he should be entitled to stack or substitute the UM coverage provided on his business "autos" with the UM coverage provided on his personal motorcycle. However, such stacking or substitution is prohibited under the circumstances of this case, based on very specific provisions in the insurance code dealing with such a situation.

Utah Code Annotated §§31A-22-305(6) and (7) prohibit the type of stacking or substitution proposed by Mr. Pollard in this case. The applicable portions of those subsections in the statute state as follows:

**31A-22-305. Uninsured and underinsured motorist coverage.**

\* \* \*

(6)(a) The limit of liability for uninsured motorist coverage for two or more motor vehicles may not be added together, combined, or stacked to determine the limit of insurance coverage available to an injured person for any one accident.

(b)(i) Subsection (6)(a) applies to all persons except a covered person as defined under subsection (7)(b)(ii).

\* \* \*

(7)(a) Uninsured motorist coverage under this section applies to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death of covered persons while occupying or using a motor vehicle only if the motor vehicle is described in the policy under which a claim is made, or if the motor vehicle is a newly acquired or replacement vehicle covered under the terms of the policy. Except as provided in subsection (6) or (7), a covered person injured in a vehicle described in a policy that includes uninsured motorist benefits may not elect to collect uninsured motorist coverage benefits from any other motor vehicle insurance policy under which he is a covered person.

(b) Each of the following persons may also recover uninsured motorist benefits under any other policy in which they are described as a "covered person" as defined in subsection (1):

(i) A covered person injured as a pedestrian by an uninsured motor vehicle; and

(ii) A covered person injured while occupying or using a motor vehicle that is not owned by, furnished, or available for the regular use of the covered person, the covered person's resident spouse, or the covered person's resident relative.

\* \* \*

U.C.A. §§31A-22-305(6) and (7) (1997) (Emphasis added).

Plaintiff has argued that there is an internal statutory inconsistency between these subsections of the statute and subsections (1), (2), and (3). (R. 38) However, there is no such inconsistency. Instead, while the first three subsections deal with UM coverage in general, these later subsections deal more specifically with situations such as that being presented in the present case, where there is an effort to stack or substitute UM coverages for two or more vehicles. These statutory provisions are consistent and valid as written, and plaintiff has cited no authority to the contrary.

Thus, in this case, where Mr. Pollard was not injured as a pedestrian, or while occupying or using a motor vehicle that was not owned or furnished or available for his regular use, but was instead injured while using an owned motor vehicle not described in the subject commercial policy, he is limited to recovering only

through the UM coverage provided under the policy on that motor vehicle. He is not entitled to stack or substitute the UM coverage which had been provided under the commercial policy on the business vehicles described in that policy.

### III.

**THE REASONABLE EXPECTATIONS CONCEPT IS NOT APPLICABLE AND DOES NOT CREATE ADDITIONAL UM COVERAGE FOR MR. POLLARD UNDER THE COMMERCIAL POLICY.**

Through his affidavit, Mr. Pollard has implied an argument that he is somehow entitled to the UM coverage under the commercial policy based on a "reasonable expectations concept". (Appellant's Brief, pg. 3, ¶3) However, it is not reasonable for Mr. Pollard to have expected to recover UM benefits under the commercial policy in addition to those benefits he has already recovered under the policy provided on the motorcycle he was driving at the time of the subject accident. As stated by the Utah Court of Appeals in the case of Wagner v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 786 P.2d 763, 766 (Utah App 1990):

The reasonable expectations concept is quite troublesome, since most insureds develop a "reasonable expectation" that every loss will be covered by their policy.

\* \* \*

Therefore, in making a judicial determination of such expectations, we examine the following inter-related factors: First,

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